RECEIVED

Dec 10 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001299

Estate of Thomas Sullivan, Respondent,

v.

Dolgencorp, LLC d/b/a Dollar General Corporation, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

R. Trippett Boineau, III
Michael Trask
Post Office Box 12519
1320 Main Street, 10th Floor (29201)
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Telephone: (803) 779-2300
trippett.boineau@mgclaw.com
michael.trask@mgclaw.com
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR DIRECTED VERDICT?
- II. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT?
- III. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE?
- IV. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL NISI REMITTITUR?

This is a case in which Thomas Sullivan, now deceased (“Decedent”), who suffered from an impaired gait, visited a Dollar General store in Rock Hill, South Carolina (the “Store”). Upon his arrival, Decedent entered the Store, walked over the Store’s mat, purchased goods, and proceeded to trip and fall over the same flat mat he navigated on his way into the Store. Despite a lack of evidence of any dangerous condition of which Appellant, Dolgencorp, LLC d/b/a Dollar General Corporation (“Appellant”) was aware and the open and obvious nature of any allegedly dangerous condition, the jury found Appellant solely liable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 10, 2019, Decedent visited the Store with his friend, Dave Riley (“Riley”). R p 376. Decedent entered the store unassisted and Mr. Riley remained in his vehicle. *See id.* Decedent purchased his goods and then proceeded to leave the Store. *See id.* Decedent tripped over a flat mat and fell to the ground. Decedent allegedly incurred approximately \$115,000.00 dollars in medical expenses as a result of the fall. R p 353.

Decedent originally filed this lawsuit in April of 2019. R p 10. However, Decedent took his own life in August of 2020, and his personal representative, Martha Ballew (“Ballew”) continued prosecuting the case. R p 340. Decedent was not deposed before his death. Plaintiff’s entire theory of liability was predicated on the subject mat being curled, unmaintained, and unsecured. R pp 328-329 & 517. Appellant denied liability for the incident and the case proceeded to a jury trial on June 17, 2024.

The Plaintiff called four witnesses during their case-in-chief: (1) Ballew; (2) Riley; (3) Dr. Edward Brown (“Dr. Brown”); and (4) Robert McNealy (“McNealy”). There is no indication that Ballew was present when the incident occurred. R pp 337-355. She presented no independent knowledge of the mat’s condition before Decedent came into contact with it. *See id.*

Riley testified that he drove Decedent to the Store, but waited in the vehicle while Decedent shopped. R p 376. He never went inside the store to assist Decedent. *See id.* More importantly, Riley confirmed he did not see the mat prior to the incident occurring. *See id.* He did help Decedent after he fell and saw the condition of the mat at that time. R p 369. Mr. Riley described the mat as “dirty,” but failed to identify any inherent defects in the mat. *See id.*

Dr. Brown testified via video deposition, which occurred before trial. R pp 385-410 & 706. Dr. Brown was the orthopedic surgeon who surgically fixed Decedent’s fractured hip after this incident occurred. R pp 399-400 & 706. Interestingly, Dr. Brown testified that Decedent had a prior stroke and, as a result, had an impaired gait with his left foot. R p 397 & 706. Dr. Brown watched the video and offered the following opinions to the jury: (1) the subject mat was flat and did not contribute to the subject incident; and (2) the Decedent’s impaired gait was the cause of the subject incident. R pp 395-396 & 706.

McNealy, Plaintiff’s retained liability expert, was permitted to testify over Appellant’s objection concerning his observations of the video footage of the incident. R pp 421 & 291-295. He opined that the mat was dirty based on his view of the video footage. R p 429. He also testified that the mat was unsecured, because Decedent was able to kick up the mat with his impaired gait and fell to the ground. R pp 422-424. McNealy then attempted to testify that the mat was curled when the Decedent came into contact with it, but never identified the actual curl in the mat on which Plaintiff’s tripped. R pp 427-429. McNealy then conceded he never inspected the subject mat, never spoke to Decedent, and was impeached for visiting the Store despite claiming it held no relevance to his formulation of opinions in this case. R pp 453-455. Finally, McNealy himself agreed that the mat was not concealed from Decedent in any manner

and agreed Decedent had to walk over the same mat to enter the Store before the incident occurred. R pp 455-456.

After Plaintiff rested her case, Appellant moved for a directed verdict. R pp 458-461. Specifically, Appellant argued: (1) there was no evidence of a mat curl, which required a finding that the mat was not hazardous; (2) there was no evidence Appellant knew or should have known about the alleged curl in the mat; (3) the mat was an open and obvious condition that did not require a warning; and (4) Decedent's comparative negligence far exceeded any negligence attributable to Appellant based on Dr. Brown's testimony. *See id.* The Court denied Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict.¹ *See id.*

Appellant then proceeded to present two witnesses during their case-in-chief: (1) Laura Myers ("Myers"); and (2) Brian Boggess ("Boggess"). R pp 464-503. Myers was the assistant manager when this incident occurred. R p 466. She testified that the mat was not curled, dirty, or poorly maintained before Decedent encountered it. R pp 470-471 & 480. She also testified that the employees would inspect the mats, including the subject mat, every morning before the Store opened. R pp 468, 474 & 478. She also testified that the mats were cleaned every night after the Store closed. *See id.* Finally, she testified she was not aware of any issue with the mat on the day of the accident and if she had been she would have addressed those issues. R pp 468-471.

Boggess was offered as an expert in biomechanical engineering and mechanical engineering without objection. R p 488. He opined that the mat was flat and the incident occurred because of the Decedent's impaired gait. R pp 489-492. Specifically, Boggess testified that Decedent kicked the mat while exiting the store, which caused the fall to occur. *See id.*

¹ The Court did grant Appellant's motion for directed verdict regarding the issue of punitive damages since there was no evidence of reckless conduct or heightened negligence attributable to the Appellant. R p 461.

At the close of Appellant's case-in-chief, Appellant renewed its Motion for Directed Verdict on the same grounds previously listed. R p 509. The Court, again, denied the Motion for Directed Verdict. *See id.*

The Jury ultimately returned a verdict for Plaintiff and found Appellant 100% liable for the incident. R pp 560-561. The Jury awarded the Plaintiff \$296,000.00 dollars. *See id.*

On June 28, 2024, Appellant filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or for a new trial. R pp 296-307. Appellant argued that (1) Plaintiff had failed to establish any evidence that the mat was a dangerous condition; (2) there was no evidence that Appellant had notice of any alleged dangerous condition; (3) even if the mat constituted a dangerous condition, it was open and obvious to Decedent; (4) Decedent's comparative fault exceeded Appellant's alleged fault; (5) absent a finding in Appellant's favor as a matter of law, a new trial was necessary as the testimony of McNealy was improper; and (6) if judgment as a matter of law in Appellant's favor and a new trial were not granted, a remittitur in the amount of damages awarded was required. *See id.*

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal of a directed verdict or judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the appellate court views "the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Richardson v. Piggly Wiggly Cent., Inc.*, 404 S.C. 231, 233, 743 S.E.2d 858, 859 (Ct. App. 2013); *Frasier v. Palmetto Homes of Florence, Inc.*, 323 S.C. 240, 243-44, 473 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 1996); *Parrish v. Allison*, 376 S.C. 308, 318, 319 656 S.E.2d 382, 388 (Ct. App. 2007). In making this determination, "the court must determine the elements of the action alleged and whether any evidence existed on each element." *Murphy v. Jefferson Pilot Commc'ns Co.*, 364 S.C. 453, 461, 613 S.E.2d 808, 812 (Ct. App. 2005). An appellate court will

overturn the denial of a motion for directed verdict or JNOV where there is insufficient evidence to support the ruling or where the decision is governed by legal error. *See Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 455, 699 S.E.2d 169, 180 (2010).

The denial of a motion for new trial is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See O'Neal v. Bowles*, 314 S.C. 525, 431 S.E.2d 555 (1993); *Easler v. Hejaz Temple*, 285 S.C. 348, 329 S.E.2d 753 (1985).

ARGUMENT

In South Carolina, a premises owner owes its invitees “a duty of ordinary care to keep his premises in a reasonably safe condition.” *Richardson*, 404 S.C. at 234, 743 S.E.2d at 859. Here, Appellant did not breach that duty as a matter of law. Further, even if this Court disagrees, a new trial is necessary under the thirteenth juror doctrine and because McNealy should not have been permitted to testify. Finally, even if the jury’s determination on liability stands, a remittitur is required.

A. Appellant Is Not Liable As A Matter Of Law.

As noted, a premises owner owes its invitees a duty of ordinary care, however, a “merchant is not an insurer of the safety of his customer but owes only the duty of exercising ordinary care to keep the premises in reasonably safe condition.” *Garvin v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 343 S.C. 625, 628, 541 S.E.2d 831, 832 (S.C. 2001). “It is elementary that in order for a plaintiff to recover damages there must be proof not only of injury, but also that it was caused by the actionable negligence of the defendant. It should also be kept in mind that the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* does not apply in this State.” *Hunter v. Dixie Home Stores*, 232 S.C. 139, 144, 101 S.E.2d 262, 265 (1957).

In order to recover, a plaintiff must show (1) that a dangerous condition exists and (2) either that the defendant created the dangerous condition or that the defendant had actual or constructive knowledge of the condition. *See Pennington v. Zayre Corp.*, 252 S.C. 176, 165 S.E.2d 695 (1969); *Garvin*, 343 S.C. at 628, 541 S.E.2d at 832; *Cook v. Food Lion, Inc.*, 328 S.C. 324, 491 S.E.2d 690 (Ct. App. 1998); *Pringle v. SLR, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 397, 404, 675 S.E.2d 783, 787 (Ct. App. 2009). If a dangerous condition is open and obvious, however, a premises owner “is not liable to his invitees for physical harm caused to them by any activity or condition on the land whose danger is known or obvious to them, unless the possessor should anticipate the harm despite such knowledge or obviousness.” *Richardson*, 404 S.C. at 234, 743 S.E.2d at 860.

Here, there was no evidence a dangerous condition existed. Further, even if there were a dangerous condition, there was no evidence that Appellant created the condition or had actual or constructive knowledge of it. Finally, even if there were a dangerous condition, it was open and obvious to Decedent.

1. Plaintiff presented no evidence that a dangerous condition existed.

It is crucial in a premises liability case that actual evidence of a dangerous condition be presented. *See Cook*, 328 S.C. 324, 91 S.E.2d 690. In *Cook*, the plaintiff tripped and fell on a floor mat near the exit of a grocery store. *See id.* at 326, 91 S.E.2d at 691. The plaintiff proffered testimony from multiple grocery store employees that the floor mats would wrinkle or crumple and regularly had to be straightened out. *See id.* Further, the plaintiff testified she tripped on a wrinkled mat. *See id.* The court held “the testimony of the tendency of the floor mats to wrinkle was directly relevant to the issue of whether a dangerous condition existed in the store.” *Id.* at 328, 91 S.E. 2d at 692. Ultimately, the court concluded that because the “mats had a tendency to wrinkle” that created “a dangerous condition.” *Id.*

Here, unlike in *Cook*, there was no testimony that the mat had a tendency to wrinkle or curl. The mere existence of a mat or rug at the entrance or exit of a store is not a “dangerous condition.” Rather, Plaintiff is obligated to present evidence that the specific mat at issue constituted a “dangerous condition.” See *Howard v. K-Mart Discount Stores*, 293 S.C. 134, 137-138, 359 S.E.2d 81, 83 (Ct. App. 1987) (court reversed a jury verdict because, “[t]estimony that a floor was slick, without evidence that the slickness constituted an unsafe condition, is insufficient to present a jury question on a merchant’s conduct in the care of his floors and its causal relationship to the plaintiff’s fall.”). The only evidence regarding the condition of the mat shown at trial was the video footage and the testimony of Myers, which confirmed the mat was flat when the incident occurred. R pp 704-705. There was no evidence showing the mat was curled in any manner before the Decedent encountered it. R pp 703-705. More importantly, the only evidence offered by Plaintiff was that the mat was dirty. Whether or not the mat was dirty could have had no impact on causing Decedent to fall. Accordingly, without any evidence that the mat constituted a dangerous condition, Appellant was entitled to judgment in its favor as a matter of law.

2. Even if there were a dangerous condition, Appellant did not have sufficient notice.

Even if one were to assume the mat constituted a dangerous condition, Plaintiff failed to introduce evidence that Appellant knew of the dangerous condition. To recover damages for injuries caused by a dangerous or defective condition on a storekeeper's premises, the plaintiff must show either (1) that the injury was caused by a specific act of the respondent which created the dangerous condition; or (2) that the respondent had actual or constructive knowledge of the dangerous condition and failed to remedy it. See *Sellers v. Jc Penney Corp.*, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124683 (D.S.C. 2011); *Garvin*, 343 S.C. at 628, 541 S.E.2d at 832 citing *Anderson v.*

Racetrac Petroleum Inc., 296 S.C. 204, 371 S.E.2d 530 (1988); *Pennington*, 252 S.C. at 178, 165 S.E.2d at 696.

In *Sellers*, the plaintiff entered the JCPenney store through the mall entrance. *See id.* at *2. There was a rug or floor mat the covered the entire width of the entrance. *See id.* Due to a “tear in the rug,” the plaintiff’s shoe became tangled, she stumbled and fell. *See id.* at *2-3.

The South Carolina District Court, applying South Carolina law, affirmed summary judgment in favor of a premises owner because the plaintiff “presents no evidence that any JCPenney employee had actual or constructive knowledge, or ‘notice,’ of a dangerous condition in the purported rug immediately prior to her fall.” *Id.* at *9. Further, the court noted that the plaintiff “may not simply rely upon a presumption that if the rug was torn at the time of her fall, it was likely torn for some time beforehand and should have been observed by [the defendant’s] employees.” *Id.*

Here, Plaintiff’s entire theory of liability rested upon the notion that the mat was curled in a manner creating a dangerous condition. R pp 328-329 & 517. Plaintiff failed to present any evidence at trial to establish: (a) the alleged curl in the mat was caused by Appellant; (b) Appellant’s employees had actual notice of the alleged curl; or (3) the curl existed for so long to create constructive notice. The video does not show any curl and Plaintiff’s own “expert,” failed to identify the alleged curl in the mat upon which Decedent fell. R pp 427-429. Additionally, the only testimony about what Appellant’s employee’s knew or had notice of was supplied by Myers, who testified that she did not know of any issues with the mat prior to the fall and that the mat was regularly inspected. R pp 468-471, 474 & 478-480. Plaintiff’s failure to offer evidence that Appellant caused the dangerous condition or knew about its existence entitled Appellant to judgment as a matter of law.

3. Even if there were a dangerous condition and Appellant had sufficient notice, the dangerous condition was open and obvious.

As this Court is aware, a merchant does not owe a duty of care for open and obvious conditions. *See Callander v. Charleston Doughnut Corp.*, 305 S.C. 123, 126, 406 S.E.2d 361, 362 (1991). A “possessor of land is not liable to his invitees for physical harm caused to them by any activity or condition on the land whose danger is known or obvious to them, unless the possessor should anticipate the harm despite such knowledge or obviousness.” *Hancock v. Mid-S. Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 331, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009); *Richardson*, 404 S.C. at 234, 743 S.E.2d at 860 (Court affirmed judgment notwithstanding the verdict in favor of premises owner as “[t]he fact that the sidewalk was wet and slippery when she left the store should have been apparent.”); *Meadows v. Heritage Vill. Church & Mission. Fellowship*, 305 S.C. 375, 409 S.E.2d 349 (1991) (Supreme Court reversed a jury verdict in favor of plaintiff, holding that the landowner had no duty to warn the plaintiff “about the wet grass because it was a natural condition, the peril of which was obvious.”).

Here, assuming there was a curl, Plaintiff has provided no evidence to show that the condition of the mat or any alleged curl was in any way hidden. At trial, Plaintiff’s “expert” witness even testified that the mat was not hidden. The video footage showed the Decedent walking over the same mat to enter the Store. To claim the alleged curl, if any, in the mat was somehow hidden from Decedent defies logic. Thus, as any alleged dangerous condition would have been open and obvious when Decedent entered the Store as well as when he was leaving the Store, Appellant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

4. Plaintiff’s comparative fault exceeded any fault of Appellant.

“Ordinarily, comparison of the plaintiff’s negligence with that of the defendant is a question of fact for the jury to decide.” *Bloom v. Ravoir*, 339 S.C. 417, 529 S.E.2d 710 (2000)

citing *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep't*, 328 S.C. 24, 32, 491 S.E.2d 571, 575 (1997). “If the evidence as a whole is susceptible to only one reasonable inference, no jury issue is created and a directed verdict motion is properly granted.” *Hopson v. Clary*, 321 S.C. 312, 314, 468 S.E.2d 305, 307 (Ct. App. 1996).

Plaintiff’s own expert, Dr. Brown, testified the accident would not have occurred but for the Decedent’s impaired gait. The evidence offered by Plaintiff establishes comparative negligence in this action. Decedent walked over the same mat entering the Store that he tripped over while exiting. It is clear he had knowledge of the mat’s existence. Decedent’s impaired gait was the greater cause of Decedent’s fall and far exceeded any negligence that could be attributable to Appellant. Accordingly, Appellant was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

B. A New Trial Is Necessary.

Rule 59(a) permits a party to seek a new trial at the conclusion of the trial in a case. Here, a new trial was warranted under the thirteenth juror doctrine and due to the Court’s error in allowing McNealy to offer expert testimony. Further, a new trial nisi remittitur is warranted given the circumstances of the case.

1. A new trial is necessary under the thirteenth juror doctrine.

A trial judge has the ability to grant a new trial based upon the thirteenth juror doctrine. *See Norton v. Norfolk S. Ry. Co.*, 350 S.C. 473, 567 S.E.2d 851 (2002). “The thirteenth juror doctrine empowers a trial court who believes the verdict is contrary to the evidence to ‘hang’ the jury, thus necessitating a new trial.” *Ex Parte Travelers Home & Marine Ins. Co.*, 427 S.C. 238, 830 S.E.2d 718 (Ct. App. 2019) (citing to *Trivelas v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 357 S.C. 545, 553, 593 S.E.2d 504, 508 (Ct. App. 2004)). The trial court is “is duty-bound to grant a new trial if the evidence does not support the verdict.” *Id.* at 244.

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