RECEIVED

Dec 09 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas

The Honorable William A McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001299

ESTATE OF THOMAS SULLIVAN,RESPONDENT,

V.

DOLGENCORP, LLC D/B/A DOLLAR GENERAL CORPORATION,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

T. Elaine White
Sabrina M. Love-Sloan
Attorneys for the Respondent
Love Sloan Law, LLC
P. O. Box 12627
(312 Oakland Ave., 29730)
Rock Hill, SC 29731
Telephone: (803)326-0000
elaine@lovesloanlaw.com
sabrina@lovesloanlaw.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

Based on substantial evidence presented by Respondent, the jury correctly concluded that Dollar General failed to keep its store premises in a reasonably safe condition and breached its duty of care owed to business invitee, Thomas Sullivan. A merchant owes customers a duty to exercise ordinary care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition. *See e.g., Cook v. Food Lion, Inc.* 328 S.C. 324, 491 S.E. 2d 690 (Ct. App. 1997); *Walker v. Walmart East Stores, LP*, 2018 WL 11433001 (D.S.C. 2018).

Dollar General breached this duty of care. As a result of Dollar General's negligence, Thomas Sullivan suffered severe injuries, including a broken hip, which required immediate surgery. He incurred significant medical bills and continued to suffer loss of mobility from the fall at Dollar General until the day of his death. The injuries from the fall had a devastating effect on his activities of daily living and life. *See* Respondent's Brief at pg.6. Therefore, the jury verdict was not excessive, and Appellant's request for new trial remittitur was properly denied by the trial court.

A. Appellant is Liable As A Matter of Law.

In this case, the parties agreed that Mr. Sullivan was a customer and invitee of Dollar General. Under South Carolina law, the premises owner has an affirmative duty to use reasonable care to prevent an invitee from suffering bodily injury. Although the owner is not an insurer of safety, the owner owes the invitee a duty to exercise reasonable care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition. *Cook*, 328 S.C. at 327, 491 S. E. 2d at 691 (citing *Denton v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.* 312 S.C. 119, 120, 439 S.E. 2d 292,293 (Ct. App. 1993).

Respondent's expert explicitly testified that the Dollar General mat was dangerous due to numerous defects. *See* Respondent's Brief, pgs. 3-5. The Respondent utilized the Dollar General surveillance video, the eyewitness testimony of David Riley, the excited utterance of Thomas Sullivan, the testimony of Respondent's expert Robert Neely, and the admissions of Appellant's employee Laura Myer and Appellant's expert to prove the actionable negligence of Appellant caused Mr. Sullivan's accident and injuries. *See* Respondent's Brief pgs. 2-5, 8-10. All of this evidence supported the Respondent's expert's opinion.

The *defective condition* of the Dollar General rug was not open and obvious to Dollar General's customers. Therefore, Appellant cannot rely on the open and obvious rule to escape

liability or shift blame to Mr. Sullivan, a business invitee at the Dollar General store. In *Pecko v. Target Corporation*, 2021 WL 62579 at 3 (D.S.C. 2021), the court noted that “the open and obvious danger rule, has an exception, where the premises owner should reasonably anticipate that invitees may be distracted or will not discover the danger.” Both the distraction element and the fact that Dollar General should have reasonably anticipated that Mr. Sullivan would not discover the danger makes the open and obvious rule inapplicable in this case. However, it is unnecessary to apply the exception because the defective condition of the Dollar General rug was not open and obvious to Mr. Sullivan or any customers.

1. Respondent presented substantial evidence that Appellant created a dangerous condition and caused Respondent’s injury.

The Respondent proved at trial that Dollar General created a dangerous condition by placing a floor mat with multiple defects in the pathway of Mr. Sullivan and all of Dollar General’s customers. Respondent’s expert explicitly testified that the Dollar General mat was dangerous due to numerous defects. *See* Respondent’s Brief, pgs. 3-6. The Respondent utilized the Dollar General surveillance video, the eyewitness testimony of David Riley, the excited utterance of Thomas Sullivan, the testimony of Respondent’s expert Robert Neely, and the admissions of Appellant’s employee Laura Myer and Appellant’s expert to prove the actionable negligence of Appellant caused Mr. Sullivan’s accident and injuries. *See* Respondent’s Brief pgs. 2-8. All of this evidence supported the Respondent’s expert’s opinion.

The Appellant’s disagreement with the evidence presented by Respondent does not negate the evidence or provide a legal basis for overturning the verdict. A reasonable jury could credit Respondent’s version of the facts and find that Dollar General created a dangerous condition. See

Pecko, 2021 WL 62579 at 3. Appellant makes the illogical argument that a defective mat that creates a trip and fall hazard for customers is not necessarily dangerous.

Many of the cases cited by Appellant support Respondent's position regarding Dollar General's liability in this case. The remaining cases involving foreign substances and natural conditions are simply not applicable. Here, Dollar General created the dangerous condition.

The *Cook* case establishes that a premises owner is liable to the customer for injuries caused by defective mats placed at the exit doors of its establishment. *Cook v. Food Lion, Inc*, 328 S.C. 324, 491 S.E. 2d 690 (Ct. App. 1998). The case does not require the customer to prove that the exact dangerous condition that affected the rug in *Cook* must be established by every plaintiff. Here, the Respondent established that the condition of the mat was dangerous through the evidence referenced above. See Respondent's Brief, pgs. 2-5, 8-10. Here, the amount of evidence of the dangerous condition presented by Respondent exceeds that presented in *Cook*.

“ In negligence cases, internal policies or self-imposed rules are often admissible as relevant on the issue of failure to exercise due care.” *Pecko*, 2021 WL 62579 at 3. In addition to the Dollar General video surveillance, the Respondent's eyewitness testimony, the Respondent's expert's testimony and the admissions of Appellant's witnesses, Respondent also established that the danger was recognized in Dollar General's own standard operating procedures. Here, the Appellant's expert and the Respondent's expert testified that Dollar General internal policies stated that failure to clean mats and curling of mats created a safety hazard for customers. See Respondent's Brief, pgs. 4-5 (Respondent's expert); See Respondent's Brief at pg. 10 (Appellant's expert). Appellant's argument that the dirty condition of the Dollar General rug is irrelevant contradicts Dollar General's own statements in its policy manuals and the expert testimony in this case.

Under South Carolina law, industry standards and regulations are applicable on the issue of breach of the standard of care regardless of whether specifically adopted by the merchant. See *Elledge v. Richardson Lexington School District Five*, 341 S.C. 473, 477-479, 534 S.E. 2d 289, 291 (Ct. App 2000). To further establish the dangerous condition of the Dollar General rug, Respondent presented evidence of Dollar General's failure to comply with industry standards and federal laws regarding mat safety. *See* Respondent's Brief at pg. 5. Robert McNealy testified that Dollar General's poorly maintained, dirty, curled, unsecured/sliding mat created a dangerous trip and fall hazard and violated industry mat safety and inspection standards and the Americans With Disability Act. In summary, the overwhelming evidence presented by Respondent on the dangerous condition of the Dollar General mat is more than sufficient to uphold the jury verdict and the trial court's denial of Appellant's directed verdict and post-trial motions.

2. Appellant erroneously analyzes the applicable notice standard.

The *Cook* case refutes Appellant's arguments regarding the applicable notice requirement. *Cook*, 328 S.C. 324, 491 S.E. 2d 690. In *Cook*, the plaintiff fell on a floor mat which Food Lion admittedly placed on the floor for its customers. The Court stated that to "prove negligence, the plaintiff must show *either* that the defendant or defendant's employees created the condition, *or* that the defendant had "notice" of it. *Id.* at 327 (emphasis added). When the defendant allegedly "created the dangerous condition by placing the mats by the exit doors," the Court stated "it was not necessary for the plaintiff to show that the defendant had notice of the defective condition prior to the plaintiff's fall. *Id.* at 328.

Here, as in *Cook*, the Respondent alleges that Appellant created the dangerous condition.

Dollar General placed the poorly maintained, dirty, curled, unsecured/sliding rug on the floor at the exit and failed to inspect, clean, maintain or remove or warn of the danger. Appellant cannot create a dangerous condition and then claim that Appellant had no notice.

Here, because Dollar General created the dangerous condition, no showing of notice is required. *Walker*, 2018 WL 11433001 at 4. Additionally, here there is an issue of fact based on Dollar General's failure to inspect the rug. Appellant's employee Laura Myers admitted Dollar General never trained employees to inspect Dollar General rugs for curls or sliding or migration of unsecured rugs and neither created or maintained logs or written records regarding maintenance or inspection of Dollar General rugs. *See* June 18, 2024, Transcript at pgs. 64, 66-67; R. pp. 477,479-480. The Respondent alleged and presented proof that Dollar General failed to conduct a reasonable inspection. As in the *Walker* case, Dollar General's failure to inspect the rug [for defects] shows the defendant had no plan or procedure in place to discover [the defect]." *Walker*, 2018 WL 11433001 at 4. The *Walker* court concluded: "In summary, the Defendant placed the mat at issue on the floor and failed to inspect it for damage. There is evidence that Defendant created the hazardous condition-here, no showing of notice is required." *Id.*

Appellant's arguments based on *Sellers v. JC Penny Corp*, 2011 WL 5105470 (D.S.C. 2011) are inappropriate in this case based on the facts and applicable notice requirements. In *Sellers* there was no video surveillance or photos to prove the *existence* of the rug or to show any danger or defect associated with the defendant's rug. Therefore, the plaintiff was unable to provide sufficient proof of the dangerous condition. Here, the Dollar General surveillance video, the eyewitness testimony of David Riley, the expert testimony of Robert McNealy and the admissions of Appellant's witnesses establish the dangerous condition of the rug. The *Walker*

court concluded that “ the notice requirement set forth in *Sellers* is simply not necessary” when the defendant created the condition by placing the mat at the store exit as in *Cook*. *Id.* at 4. Under the correct standard, as set forth in *Cook* and *Walker*, Respondent is entitled to recovery as set forth in the jury verdict and trial court rulings.

3. The dangerous condition of the Dollar General mat was not open and obvious or reasonably discoverable by Mr. Sullivan.

The central issue in this case was the condition of the rug. The “open and obvious” argument made by Appellant is based solely on Appellant’s focus on the rug and whether Mr. Sullivan saw the rug. The focus is properly on the *dangerous condition* of the rug, not the existence of the rug. However, the defective *condition* of the rug was not open and obvious. Here, Appellant admits that Dollar General placed the damaged rug in its foyer. However, Appellant attempts to shift responsibility for inspection of the Dollar General rug to Mr. Sullivan and suggests that Mr. Sullivan had the responsibility to inspect the Dollar General rug for defects. These blame shifting tactics of Appellant are based on an erroneous application of premises liability principles.

Assuming the open and obvious rule was applicable, the exceptions to the rule establish that Dollar General remains liable for the dangerous condition. In *Pecko v. Target Corporation*, 2021 WL 62579 (D.S.C. 2021), the court noted that “the open and obvious danger rule, has an exception, where the premises owner should reasonably anticipate that invitees may be *distracted* or *will not discover the danger*.” (emphasis added). The Court in *Pecko* concluded that “a reasonable jury could further find that [the premises owner] should have reasonably anticipated that invitees like *Pecko* may be distracted by their shopping, such that the open and obvious does not apply.” *Id.* at 3. Both circumstances noted in *Pecko* make the open and

obvious exception inapplicable in this case. Mr. Sullivan was a business invitee like the plaintiff in *Pecko* and Dollar General should have reasonably anticipated that shoppers would be distracted and would not discover the dangerous mat in the foyer of the store. Further, Mr. Sullivan had no ability or training to inspect the Dollar General rug. Here, the admissions of Dollar General's employee proved Dollar General had not trained its own employees on how to inspect and remove dangerous mats. *See Respondent's Brief*, at pg.9.

Applying the exception, Dollar General should have reasonably anticipated that Mr. Sullivan might be distracted and that he would not discover the danger created by Dollar General's failure to properly inspect the premises. *See also, Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co, Inc.*, 381 SC 326, 331, 673 S.E. 2d 801, 803 (2009)(even if the merchant's premises is in a state of disrepair, " a jury could determine that Respondent should have anticipated that such a condition may cause an invitee to fall and injure themselves."). Here, the open and obvious exception is inapplicable because the *defective condition* of the Dollar General rug was not open and obvious. Moreover, the trip and fall injury accident that Mr. Sullivan experienced is exactly the type of accident Dollar General should have anticipated when the damaged mat was placed in the pathway of its customers.

4. The jury correctly determined that Appellant was solely responsible for the dangerous condition, the accident and the injuries caused to Respondent

The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that "comparison of a plaintiff's negligence with that of the defendant is a question for the jury to decide. *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dept.*, 328 S.C. 24, 33, 491 S.E. 2d 571,575 (1977). Further, when the jury could reasonably have drawn many different conclusions regarding the relative fault of the parties, "a directed verdict is wholly inappropriate." *Id.*

The Dollar General surveillance video showed that Mr. Sullivan was able to walk into the store, shop for groceries and walk without falling until he encountered the defective Dollar General rug that caused his fall. Medical records and testimony established that Mr. Sullivan suffered from a stroke 20 years prior to the Dollar General accident that impaired his gait. Moreover, Dr. Brown testified that Mr. Sullivan was physically and medically able to walk without falling and demonstrated this ability in the Dollar General video surveillance, regardless of the twenty year old gait impairment. *See* June 17, 2024, Transcript at pg. 80, 94; R.pp. 397, 410, lines 14-22.

Mr. Sullivan's sister and David Riley testified that Mr. Sullivan lived independently and was able to walk without assistance until he was severely injured by the fall at Dollar General. (June 17, 2024, Transcript at pg. 28-29 41-43; R. pp. 345-346, 358-360). Based on these facts, the issue of comparative negligence was properly left to the determination of the jury. The substantial evidence presented by Respondent that Dollar General created the dangerous condition and caused the fall is more than sufficient to support the jury's determination that Dollar General was solely responsible for the accident.

B. Appellant has failed to meet the standard required for a new trial.

Appellant has failed to state any recognized legal basis for a new trial in this case. Absent an abuse of discretion, the trial judge's decision to grant or deny a new trial, deny remittitur and determine the admissibility of expert testimony should be upheld. Based on the broad discretion granted to the trial judge and the substantial evidence presented by Respondent, none of the extraordinary remedies Appellant requests are warranted.

1. The thirteenth juror doctrine does not warrant reversal.

Courts rarely reverse the trial court's denial of a new trial under the thirteenth juror

doctrine. On appeal, the court's "standard of review is limited to whether any evidence supports the trial court's decision;" and the appellate court "must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom in favor of the trial court's ruling." *Parker v. Evening Post Publishing*, 317 S.C. 236, 247, 452 S.E. 2d 640, 646 (Ct. App. 1994). To reverse the trial court's ruling the appellate court must conclude that the moving party was entitled to a directed verdict at trial. *Id.*

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